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OVERVIEW
Chairman’s Report
This has been another strong year for the
Mid West Development Commission (MWDC)
with the continued and growing focus on
strategic regional development across the
State.  With growing prominence of entities
such as the Regional Development Council
and Regional Development Trust, and the
increasing importance of Royalties for Regions
(RfR) to our State’s development, the relevance
and importance of the work being done by
Commissions has never been greater.
It was very pleasing to see in our annual client
survey that 92% of MWDC clients agreed
that the Agency made a positive contribution
towards economic development in the Mid West
during 2012-13.  This figure has always been
high but has trended steadily upwards over the
past three years and is very pleasing to see.  
This feedback and our achievements in general
reflect positively on the Commission’s dedicated
Board and staff.
We welcomed Gavin Treasure as our agency’s
new CEO in October 2012 after eight years
as CEO of the Shire of Morawa.  Gavin is
a Certified Practising Accountant and also
holds a Master of Business Administration and
Master of Commerce.  

Soon after Gavin’s arrival we also welcomed
four new members to our Board.  These new
faces have joined a dedicated team that have
already started working together to determine
the Commission’s new strategic directions.
All Regional Development Commissions are
guided by a strong coordinated planning base.  
Like its counterparts in other regions, MWDC is
in the process of developing a Regional Blueprint
that will tie in closely with the recently completed
State Planning Strategy.  Our Mid West Blueprint
will ensure that our regional priorities have
strong and clear links to State policy, which is the
best way to get Mid West priorities onto the State
agenda and recruit the necessary public sector
support for their delivery.
Our Blueprint is being developed in partnership
with Regional Development Australia Mid West
and Gascoyne (RDAMWG).  The RDA
network in WA has gained approval from
the Australian Government to establish the
Regional Blueprint as one planning document to
meet both State and Federal Government needs
in terms of planning for regional development.  
A new strategic plan for the Commission will be
developed in conjunction with our Blueprint and
to articulate how we will respond to the growth
and development priorities of our region.
The Commission continues to aggressively
drive the implementation of its flagship
Mid West Investment Plan (MWIP) following
the allocation of $220 million in RfR funding
over five years from 2011-12.  We accepted
administrative responsibility for the MWIP
during 2012-13 (previously administered by
the Department of Regional Development and
Lands) and have recruited additional staff to
support its delivery.  The MWIP has quickly
become a cornerstone of the Commission’s
operations and is now closely linked to the
efforts of all project staff.
Already more than $63 million has been
committed to 17 high priority regional projects
through the MWIP, with a combined construction
value of around $133 million.  Ten projects
were announced during 2012-13, sharing more
than $44.5 million of MWIP funding (details
on page 26). A variety of additional projects
were progressed throughout 2012-13 and more
announcements are expected in the near future.
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The Commission had a lead role in several MWIP
projects including the Wubin to Mullewa Road
and Goldfields Highway.  MWDC initiated these
two projects, which resulted in $20.8 million being
leveraged from Main Roads WA.
The region’s economy is at the core of the
Commission’s charter and MWIP projects are
intended to provide employment and create
new business opportunities to support the local
economy well into the future.  Equally importantly,
the projects provide enormous community and
social dividend through tourism, environmental
protection, affordable housing, urban connectivity,
recreation, education and the like.
With work on Batavia Coast Marina (BCM)
stage 1 nearing completion our focus has
shifted to stage 2 on the opposite side of
Foreshore Drive, with $3.86 million allocated
through the MWIP.  LandCorp is progressing
the development of the site, working in
conjunction with the City of Greater Geraldton
and the MWDC.  BCM stage 2 is expected to
include a variety of residential and commercial
developments with a blend of community spaces,
amenities and pedestrian access.  Eventually,
stage 2 is expected to create continuity between
the Geraldton CBD and the Northgate shopping
precinct.  This staged development is expected
to evolve over several years, resulting in
potentially hundreds of millions of dollars in
spending through planning and construction.
With $3 million allocated from the MWIP in
2012-13 the Geraldton Universities Centre
(GUC) started constructing a second building to
enable continued growth in student numbers.  
The stage 2 building was 100% funded through
the Commission’s MWIP and is expected
to be operational for the start of the 2014
academic year.  GUC had another strong
year in 2012‑13, celebrating its tenth year of
operation in August.  More than 200 students
have graduated through GUC since its inception
and this number will keep growing with degree
courses offerings now including accounting /
business, communications, education, nursing,
psychology and engineering / construction.

The GUC site has
been a hive of
construction activity
during 2012-13
with the Murchison
Support Facility (MSF)
now complete and
operational.  The
MSF will support
the activities of
personnel working
on the Australian
Square Kilometre
Array Pathfinder
(ASKAP), which is the
basis of International
SKA stage 1.  ASKAP was officially opened
in October 2012 and already generating
‘world first’ results through its early telescope
commissioning processes.  
The announcement that Australia will jointly
host Stage 1 of the €2 billion international SKA
with Southern Africa highlights the importance
of ASKAP on a global scale and creates
enormous opportunities for the Mid West.  
GUC’s involvement in this sector reinforces
Geraldton’s position as the most vital learning
and research hub north of Perth.
GUC is also a key partner in another one of
the Commission’s priority projects; namely
the Geraldton Health, Education, Training
and Accommodation Project (GHETAP).  
GHETAP seeks to provide affordable, quality
accommodation for students and staff
associated with the institutions within the
precinct, including GUC, Department of Health,
Combined Universities Centre for Rural Health,
Durack Institute of Technology and potentially
CSIRO.  Led by MWDC, feasibility and
masterplan processes are currently underway.  
When developed, GHETAP would make it more
attractive for health and education students and
staff to study, train and work in the Mid West.
The impact of RfR has been dramatic across
regional WA and it is very pleasing to see in
the results of our 2012-13 client survey that
79% of MWDC clients agreed that RfR added
value in the Mid West (up from 71.8% since
2010-11).  In addition to the MWIP, MWDC also
provided $103,207 of RfR funding in 2012-13
to 14 community based projects through its
Small Grants Scheme (details on page 26).  
MWDC Annual Report 2012-13 5

MWDC also worked with Mid West local
governments to determine the region’s 2012‑13
RfR Country Local Government Fund (CLGF)
regional groups allocations.  Around $8 million
of CLGF was provided to 11 Mid West projects
including tourism and cultural facilities, roads,
boat ramp, bridges, coastal protection, vermin
fencing and communications initiatives.
As one of the State’s nine SuperTowns, the
Commission was pleased to have been able to
support the development of the Morawa Growth
and Implementation Plan, which resulted in
an allocation of $3.5 million in RfR from the
SuperTowns Project Development Fund and
another $1 million from the Commission’s MWIP.  
Borne out of this SuperTowns process, the
Commission led the development of an Economic
Development Strategy (EDS) to help communities
in the North Midlands subregion identify and
realise opportunities for economic growth.  We
have commenced EDS’s for the Batavia Coast
and Murchison subregions in collaboration with
RDAMWG; working closely with relevant local
governments, communities and industry.
The preparation of EDS’s for the Batavia Coast
and Murchison are indicative of the strong
partnership we have forged with RDAMWG,
creating logical synergy and alignment between
the Federal and State government bodies
for regional development in the Mid West.  
The Commission provided RDAMWG office
space at our new Foreshore Business Centre

premises, effectively creating a ‘one stop shop’
for regional development in the Mid West.  The
office collocation reinforces a strong relationship
between the two organisations and is a logical
step towards aligning the efforts of our agencies
so we can get the best results for our region from
government programs and future investment.
In 2011-12 the Commission funded an
extensive Yellow Tail Kingfish grow-out trial
to demonstrate the competitive advantages
of Mid West marine aquaculture.  Undertaken
in partnership with the Marine Fishfarmers
Association, industry and government, the trial
generated significant new knowledge that can
help take the region’s emerging aquaculture
industry to the next level and provide long
term economic benefit to the Mid West.  The
Commission has worked closely with industry
and government throughout 2012-13 to carefully
plan the next phase of development and
progress the creation of an Aquaculture Zone to
support growth in this sector.
We also saw some great progress with strategic
infrastructure development in 2012-13, including
the 330kV power line from Neerabup to
Three Springs; the upgrade of rail infrastructure
from Morawa through Mullewa and into the
Geraldton port; the completion of the Karara
export terminal and Mount Gibson Iron train
unloader; and completion of rail and related
infrastructure at Narngulu.  With developing
resources projects throughout the region,
these enhancements continue to support the
case for a port at Oakajee and related supply
chain infrastructure.  MWDC continues to lobby
strongly for development at Oakajee through its
Mid West Strategic Infrastructure Group.
The Commission remains committed to
achieving lasting outcomes for the Mid West
and I’m confident this year’s Annual Report
demonstrates our commitment to enhancing
the quality of life in our communities.  Our
performance and key achievements for 2012‑13
are outlined in more detail on page 16 under
“Agency Performance”.

Murray Criddle
Chairman
Mid West Development Commission Board
6
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Executive Summary

•

Worked in
partnership
with the GUC,
Durack Institute
of Technology,
Combined
Universities Centre
for Rural Health
and the City of
Greater Geraldton to
produce a feasibility
study / master plan
for the Geraldton
Health, Education and Training
Accommodation Project.  The project
aims to meet the (short term) accommodation
needs of students and staff in Geraldton’s
health, education and training precinct.

•

Continued to support the development of a
marine aquaculture industry in the Mid West
by working with proponents to review an
extensive Yellow Tail Kingfish grow-out trial
undertaken in between 2010-12 and develop
a Marine Aquaculture Development Plan to
help capitalise on the competitive advantages
of marine aquaculture in the region.

•

Worked with local governments to determine
regionally significant infrastructure projects
to share $8 million of RfR CLGF regional
groups funding.  The 11 priority projects
identified in 2012-13 included tourism
and cultural facilities, roads, a boat ramp,
bridges, coastal protection, vermin fencing
and communications initiatives.

•

Administered the RfR Mid West Regional
Grants Scheme, which included managing
delivery of $116,096 in Small Grant Scheme
funding to fourteen projects.

•

Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton
and other stakeholders to support LandCorp
to undertake site investigations and planning
for stage 2 of the redevelopment of the
Batavia Coast Marina.  The Commission’s
support included the allocation of
$3.86 million of MWIP for preliminary works.

•

Achieved strong results in the annual client
perceptions survey, including that 92%
of clients agree the Commission makes
a positive contribution towards economic
development in the Mid West.

Performance Highlights
•

Continued to implement the Commission’s
MWIP, which was allocated $220 million from
RfR over five years to address the region’s
infrastructure priorities.  In 2012-13 more than
$44.5 million was allocated to ten Mid West
projects, with some of the more significant
initiatives including:
o MWDC using MWIP funding to leverage
Main Roads WA support and matching
funding for the upgrade of the Mullewa
Wubin Roads and the Goldfields Highway;
and
o Recognising the importance of Mid West
residents being able to undertake tertiary
studies, provided 100% of the funding
required for the Stage 2 GUC building
from the MWIP.

•

Gained management responsibility for
implementation of the MWIP and associated
projects, which previously rested with the
Department of Regional Development.

•

Commenced a Regional Blueprint for
the Mid West that will set the future
direction for the development of the region
and serve as a link between planning and
investment.  The Blueprint will be based
on strong relationships with government
agencies and industry groups and will
inform the Commission’s new strategic
plan.  Stage 1 of the project was completed
during 2012‑13, which included a detailed
stocktake of existing Mid West infrastructure
and services, relevant planning and projects
underway or proposed.

•

Supported the GUC in its efforts to achieve
financial sustainability by working with
its Board and staff to develop a stage 2
building, expand its range of courses,
provide enhanced student support through
face-to-face contact and employ an
Aboriginal Student Services Officer.  These
initiatives were supported with RfR funding.  
The Stage 2 building was 100% funded by
the Commission through its MWIP.
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Operational Structure

Objectives
The objectives of the Commission are to:

Enabling Legislation
The Mid West Development Commission is a
State Government statutory authority managed
by a community based Board.  The Commission
functions under the provisions of the Regional
Development Commissions Act (1993) and is
one of nine regional development commissions
in Western Australia.

•

Support communities to enhance
their quality of life and become
self determining;

•

Support development of investment,
trade, business and employment
opportunities;

•

Expand and improve community and
economic infrastructure;

Responsible Minister

•

Hon. Brendon Grylls, Minister for Regional
Development

Maintain and enhance the region’s
natural resource base; and

•

Foster regional decision making and
encourage a whole of government
approach to managing change.

Organisational Structure
Vision
To have the Mid West region recognised as a
preferred region in which to live, work, study
and invest.

Mission
To be a focused and efficient agency delivering
real outcomes for Mid West communities.

8
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Values
The Commission’s core values are:
•

Balance - We seek to balance
economic, social and environmental
outcomes;

•

Client focused - Our clients can
expect consistent, timely, accurate
and reliable services;

•

Ethical - We act with integrity,
honesty and loyalty;

•

Partnership - We work with others to
achieve common goals; and

•

Pro-active - We are innovative,
forward thinking, resourceful and
creative.

Strategic Directions
The Commission’s future direction is set
out in our ‘Strategic Directions 2008 - 2011’
document.  It is supported by an operational
plan, which articulates key projects and
implementation milestones.  The Commission
has commenced a process to review and
update its Strategic Directions, which will be
completed in 2013-14.
Performance against set objectives is
regularly monitored through this operational
plan and bimonthly reports to the Board
of Management.  Annual performance is
reflected in the Commission’s Annual Report
and the State’s Budget Statements.
A staff objective setting and performance
review program is in place to ensure the
Commission remains focused, efficient and
effective in delivering its regional development
services to the Mid West.

Outcomes
The three key outcomes expected of the
Commission’s activities are:
•
•
•

Provision of timely advice and accurate
information;
Attracting new investment; and
Expansion of infrastructure and
improved access to services.

Key Result Areas
To achieve these outcomes, the Commission
has focused on five key result areas, which
broadly align with the State’s Regional
Development Policy.  These are:
•
•
•
•
•

Services
WORKING IN THE REGION, FOR THE
REGION
The Mid West Development Commission
works to promote economic and social
development in the Mid West region.
We assist:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Businesses in the region looking to
expand or develop;
People with new ideas for business or
industry;
Existing and potential exporters;
Potential investors;
Major project proponents;
Local governments in the Mid West;
Community organisations;
Government agencies; and
Business organisations.

Community – cohesive, healthy and
educated communities;
Economy – a strong, resilient and
diversified economy;
Governance – strong partnerships that
add value to the social and economic
development of the Mid West;
Infrastructure – timely provision of
strategic infrastructure; and
Sustainability – a balanced
approach to development which
recognises the importance of the
environment alongside social and
economic outcomes.
MWDC Annual Report 2012-13 9

The services and assistance we provide include:

•

Putting clients in touch with the right
people;
Helping to resolve issues at a
government level;
Representing the interests of Mid West
business and communities to
government;
Promoting the region and its business
capability;
Providing export development services;
Facilitating access to government
assistance programs and resources;
Providing updates on what is
happening in the region;
Identifying and promoting investment
opportunities in the region;
Providing links and referrals to
Mid West organisations and networks;
Providing local knowledge and input
to government on issues such as land,
infrastructure, services, energy and
new developments;

•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

10
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•

Supporting planning and coordination
to facilitate major project development;
Assisting development of regional
strategies to develop and improve
infrastructure and services in the
Mid West; and
Fostering the capacity of communities
to undertake economic and social
development.

Information Resources
Information on the following areas is available
from the Commission:
•
•
•
•

Regional statistics and data;
Grants and funding opportunities;
Updates on major regional projects; and
Investment opportunities in the region.

Vacant
Finance and Administration
Officer (level 2)

Jacinta Potts
Commercial Manager
(level 6)

Commercial Services

Anne Finlay
Project Manager
(level 5)

Fiona Shallcross
Project Manager
(level 5)

Adam Murszewski
Project Manager
(level 5)

Brendin Flanigan
Senior Project
Manager (level 6)

Noel Ferguson
Principal Project Manager
(level 8)

Trish Palmonari
Principal Project Manager
(level 8)

Mike Kendall
Senior Project
Manager (level 6)

Communities and Technology

Neil Condon
Assistant Director (level 8)

Infrastructure and
Business Development

Project evaluation and advice

Compliance and reporting

Gavin Treasure
Chief Executive Officer

Board of Management

Hon Brendon Grylls MLA
Minister for Regional Development

Margie Robinson
Project Officer
(level 4)

Trevor Price
Principal Project Manager
(level 8)

Mid West Investment Plan

Kylie Payne
Executive Assistant (level 3)

Steve Douglas
Manager Strategic Projects
(level 8)

Strategic Projects

Organisational Chart

For the year ended 30 June 2013
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Board of the Authority
The Mid West Development Commission
is managed by a Board of regional
representatives comprising local government,
community and ministerial appointments.
The Chief Executive Officer is an ex-officio
member.

Board Profiles
Hon Murray Criddle - Chairperson

Murray is a primary producer and a retired
Member of the Western Australian Parliament.  
He was Member for the Agricultural Region
from 1993 until his resignation in 2008 and
Minister for Transport from 1998 to 2001.  
During his time in Parliament Murray was a
member of a number of Standing Committees
including Estimates and Financial Operations,
Ecology and Sustainable Development,
and Public Administration and Finance.  He
was also a member of a number of Select
Committees including Select Committee
for Native Title and Select Committee for
Cape Range National Park and Ningaloo
Marine Park.  Murray was appointed to the
Commission Board in 2009 as a Ministerial
appointment and Chairman.

Mr Andrew Pitcher – Deputy Chairperson

Andrew is the managing director of Geraldton
Hire and Scaffolding Solutions, having
served as Regional Manager, Northern
WA for Rabobank for the previous five
years.  He has extensive finance and
management experience, particularly in the
agricultural, mining, fishing and construction
sectors.  Andrew is passionate about local
community, with a particular interest in
seeing the Mid West community capture
benefits associated with the sustainable
development of the region.  With his strong
financial background, Andrew has a solid
understanding of all of the issues associated
with industry development in the region.  He
has served as Deputy Chairman since 2009
as a Community appointment.
Ms Yvonne Messina GAICD

Yvonne is a retired School Principal.  During
her principalship at Mullewa District High
school, the school was nominated and won
‘Outstanding School’ in Awards for Aboriginal
Education, and Yvonne was nominated for a
State Government Award for Excellence in
Community Service.  Highlights of working
at Mullewa include Aboriginal education,
mentoring graduate teachers and local
Aboriginal trainees into successful teaching
careers.  Yvonne is currently president of
Royal Association of Justices – Mid West
branch and has completed the Australian
Institute of Company Directors Diploma.  
Yvonne has served on the Commission Board
since 2008 as a Ministerial appointment.
Mr John Thomson

As Managing Partner for RSM Bird Cameron
in Geraldton, with senior management
responsibilities for the Mid West, John has
particular interest in regional investment.
John is a consultant to clients with primary
production, fishing including aquaculture,
meat processing and transport interests in
the region.  He also has a particular interest
in working with key stakeholders to develop
and implement vertically integrated strategies
promoting the development of regional
resources.  John was appointed to the
Commission Board in 2008 as a Community
appointment.
12
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Ms Meredith Wills

Cr Michelle Bagley

Meredith has been Director of the Geraldton
Universities Centre (GUC) for the past seven
years.  Prior to joining the GUC in 2005,
Meredith was involved in the university, TAFE
and labour market sectors.  She has not only
taught but also developed programs with a
particular emphasis on equity and access
to education including adult education,
indigenous leadership and community
development.  She is particularly interested
in collaboration between Mid West schools,
Durack Institute of Technology, universities,
industry and community to meet our regional
workforce needs.  Meredith was appointed
to Commission Board as a Community
appointment in 2008.

Michelle is a
primary producer at
Yandanooka in the
Shire of Mingenew.  
Michelle was elected
to the Mingenew Shire
Council in 1999 and has
been Shire President for
the past seven years.  
Prior to entering
Local Government Michelle was
actively involved in the several
Mingenew sporting clubs and is a
life member of the Mingenew Netbal Club.  
She also served as catering officer of the
Mingenew Expo, has been on the Mingenew
Silver Chain committee, Mingenew Tourist
and Promotion committee and Mingenew
Telecentre committee.  Michelle was
Coordinator of the local Youth Advisory
Council for three years.  Michelle is current
Chair of the Midwest Regional Council, Chair
of the North Midlands Regional Road Group
and Deputy Chair of the Midwest Regional
Road Group.  She was the delegate for the
Northern Country Zone of Local Government
and also recently become a member of the
Western Australian College of Agriculture Morawa’s Independent Public Schools Board.

Cr Ashley Dowden

Ashley is the owner and manager of
Challa Station, 60km east of Mount Magnet,
which has been in the Dowden family since
being taken up in 1888.  With his wife Debbie,
Ashley is also a partner in Murchison Aviation
and Machinery Hire, which contracts to
local governments and mining companies,
specializing in low level aviation, civil
earthworks and road construction.  Ashley
has been on the Shire of Mount Magnet
Council since 2003 and is currently Shire
President.  He is also current Chairman of
the Meekatharra Rangeland Biosecurity
Association, which controls biosecurity over
an area of almost 500,000km2 across the
Murchison region extending into the Pilbara
(north) and Wheatbelt (south).  Ashley has
also sat on the Murchison Regional Vermin
Council and was a State Councillor for the
Murchison Country Zone.  He is passionate
about his community and the region and
wants to see them prosper and reach their full
potential.

Mr Ian Carpenter

Ian was first elected to the City of Geraldton as
a Councillor in 2003, serving as a Councillor,
Deputy Mayor and Mayor leading up to the
amalgamation of Geraldton and Greenough.  
He was elected as the inaugural Mayor
of the new City of Geraldton‑Greenough
and when Geraldton‑Greenough and
Mullewa amalgamated in 2011 he became
the inaugural Mayor of the City of Greater
Geraldton.  Ian is a current Commissioner of
the WA Grants Commission and is the current
Chair of the WA Regional Capitals Alliance
and Deputy Chair of the Regional Capitals
Alliance of Australia.  He has also been a
member of the WA Local Government Reform
Implementation Committee.  Ian has a passion
to support the economic development of the
Mid West and seeks to make the best of the
opportunities the NBN will bring to the region.
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Mrs Kirrilee Warr

Kirrilee lives in Yuna (Chapman Valley) and
is a Director, along with her husband, of
their large broad-acre agricultural enterprise;
operating as secretary/administration manager
for the business.  Kirrilee has a passion for the
grain and livestock industry and community
development.  She has strong community
involvement in sport, environment, heritage
and industry development.  Kirrilee was a
State representative on the Partners on
Grain reference group for four years from
2004 and recently completed a three year
term on the Rural, Remote, and Regional
Women’s Network reference group (2007 to
2011).  These positions furthered Kirrilee’s
communication, strategic planning and
governance abilities and provided exceptional
understanding of the contribution women
make in communities.  Many of the projects
Kirrilee has worked on have focused on
empowering young people and women in
rural, regional, and remote areas.  Kirrilee also
recently completed an Australian Institute of
Company Directors course.
Mr Gavin Treasure

Gavin is Chief Executive Officer of the
Mid West Development Commission and is a
member of the Board in this capacity.

Senior Officers
Mr Gavin Treasure (Chief Executive Officer)

Gavin joined the Commission in October after
eight years as CEO of the Shire of Morawa.  
He is a certified practising accountant and also
holds a Master of Business Administration and
Master of Commerce.

Administered Legislation
The Mid West Development Commission also
administers the following related Acts:
•
•
•
•

Other Key Legislation Impacting on
Mid West Development Commission’s
Activities
In the performance of its functions, the Mid West
Development Commission complies with the
following relevant written laws:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

14
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Geraldton Foreshore and Marina Development
Act 1990
Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial
Institute Act 1929
Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial
Institute Enabling Act 1934
Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial
Institute (Trust Property Disposition)
Act 1938

Regional Development Commissions Act 1993
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Geraldton Foreshore and Marina
Development Act 1990
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1983
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Royalties for Regions Act 2009
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation
Act 1981

Performance Management Framework
Outcome Based Management Framework
Broad government goals are supported at agency level by specific outcomes.  Agencies deliver
services to achieve these outcomes.  The following tables illustrate the relationship between the
Commission’s services and desired outcomes, and the Government Goal they contribute to:
Government Goal

Desired Outcome

Stronger Focus on the Regions:

An environment conducive to the
balanced economic and social
development of the Mid West
region.

Greater focus on service delivery,
infrastructure investment and
economic development to improve
the overall quality of life in remote
and regional areas.

Services
1. Information and Advice
2. Investment Facilitation
3. Infrastructure and Services
Development in the Mid West

Service 1: Information and Advice
To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between
government, business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact,
and by raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation
To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base
and is attractive to investors.

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West
To facilitate the development of infrastructure and services based on long term economic
development strategies, to support communities and businesses in the Mid West.

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 2012-13.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2012-13.
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Agency Performance
Report on Operations

•

Provided advice and assistance to clients
with project planning and development,
identification of suitable grant opportunities
and applications for grant funding.

•

With DRD, monitored the progress of
Mid West related projects allocated funding
from the Regional Development Council’s
Action Agenda Funding Scheme in 2011-12.  
Nine Mid West projects were supported that
shared almost $15 million in RfR funding,
along with two Statewide initiatives also
funded that will directly benefit the Mid West.

•

Prepared a number of submissions relating
to key initiatives and projects including
the draft State Planning Strategy, WA
Regional Development Trust’s review of
the Community Resource Centre network,
State Water Reform process and Mid West
Water Supply Plan.

•

Produced the December 2012 edition of
the Commission’s Mid West Major Projects
Summary for distribution to regional, national
and international businesses, industry
associations and government agencies.  
The report highlights more than 120
committed, planned or proposed projects in
the Mid West with a combined construction
value of more than $30 billion.

•

Produced an updated Mid West Mining
Register that contains information on both
operational and emerging mines in the
Mid West.

•

Collated and provided statistical data to
a range of stakeholders to assist with
planning in response to social, economic,
employment and industry growth and
development within the Mid West.

•

Worked with the Murchison Executive Group,
which includes the CEO’s of six Murchison
local governments, to identify opportunities
for local government collaboration and
resource sharing in the Murchison subregion.

Service 1: Information and Advice
To contribute to economic growth and
employment by developing strategic
partnerships between government, business
and the community, providing a central point
of coordination and contact, and by raising
awareness of the Mid West region.
AGENCY ACTIVITIES
•
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Administered the Royalties for Regions
(RfR) Mid West Regional Grants Scheme
(MWRGS), which included:
o Managing delivery of $116,096 in
Small Grant Scheme funding to
fourteen projects; and
o Supporting recipients of all MWRGS
funding from previous rounds to effectively
report on and acquit their grants.
(Please refer to the tables at the end of this
Report on Operations section for full details
of MWRGS allocations).
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•

Provided a range of opportunities for
professional development, colleagueship and
mentoring for a network local government
Community Development Officers (CDO’s).  
The network now extends across a number
of regions and continues to enhance
collaboration amongst CDO’s, resulting in
more effective community programs and a
significantly reduced turnover of staff.

•

Worked with the Department of Training
and Workforce Development to establish a
Mid West Workforce Development Alliance
that will oversee the implementation of the
Mid West Workforce Development Plan.

•

Allocated $92,500 of residual Mid West
Regional Development Scheme funding
to seven projects (details at the end of this
Report on Operations section).

•

Facilitated the colocation of Regional
Development Australia Midwest and
Gascoyne (RDAMWG) to the Commission’s
offices at the Foreshore Business Centre.  
This move has strengthened the alignment
and working relationship of the two
organisations and created a ‘one stop shop’
for regional development in the Mid West.

Major Initiatives for 2013-14
•

Promote the strategic use of available RfR
funding through:
o Development of a Regional Blueprint for
the Mid West;
o Planning for priority major projects; and
o Delivery of targeted Mid West projects
that will improve economic and
community infrastructure and services
in the Mid West.

•

Update the Commission’s Mid West
Major Projects Summary for distribution
to businesses, industry associations and
government agencies in WA, nationally and
overseas.

•

Update the Mid West Mining Register as
development occurs to assist local
businesses identify and win procurement
opportunities.

•

Continue to lead a professional support
network for regional WA’s local government
CDO’s to enhance collaboration and program
delivery and limit staff turnover.

•

As a member of the Mid West Workforce
Development Alliance, assist the
Department of Training and Workforce
Development formally launch and implement
the Mid West Workforce Development
Planning Framework.

•

Work with Rangelands Natural Resource
Management (NRM) and Bush Heritage
Australia in the Murchison to establish
Indigenous NRM work teams and access to
country for local people.

•

Develop a Client Relationship Management
system to support agency relationships and
provide a communications database for the
Commission.
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Service 2: Investment Facilitation

•

To create a business environment within the
Mid West region that has a diverse economic
base and is attractive to investors.
AGENCY ACTIVITIES
•

Continued to support the development of a
marine aquaculture industry in the Mid West by:
o Working with proponents to undertake
a detailed review of an extensive
Yellow Tail Kingfish grow-out trial to
help capitalise on the competitive
advantages of marine aquaculture in
•
the Mid West;
o Progressing a Marine Aquaculture
Development Plan for the Mid West,
in consultation with industry and
Government agencies;
o Advocating for improved and unified
State agency support for aquaculture
across WA through engagement with
other jurisdictions that have developed
their aquaculture industries; and
o Working with aquaculture industry
groups, WA Department of Fisheries
and Department of Environment
Regulation to progress the
establishment of Marine Aquaculture
•
Zones in WA waters.

•

18
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As part of the SuperTowns initiative, worked
closely with the Shire of Morawa to complete
its Morawa Growth and Implementation
Plan that outlines the community’s vision
and provides a detailed work plan for future
growth.  As a result, Morawa secured
$3 million (from the RfR SuperTowns
Project Development Fund) for town centre
revitalisation and $500,000 for planning for a
solar thermal power station to address edge
of grid power reliability issues.  The Shire
has been working with MWDC on potential
further contributions from the MWIP for the
town centre revitalisation project.
In partnership with local governments in the
North Midlands, oversaw the development
of a North Midlands Economic Development
Strategy (NMEDS) to identify and target
economic development opportunities in
the subregion.  The strategy builds on the
work undertaken during the development
of the Morawa Growth and Implementation
Plan as part of the SuperTowns initiative.  
In partnership with RDAMWG, initiated
the preparation of economic development
strategies for the Batavia Coast and
Murchison to identify associated
opportunities and priorities in the two
subregions.
As an inaugural member, supported the
establishment of a Mid West branch of the
Australia China Business Council (ACBC)
as a networking organisation with an interest
in promoting trade between China and
Australia.
Supported the Mid West Chamber of
Commerce to develop its Regional Networks
and Business Development Project.  The
project will seek to establish relationships
between major project proponents and
local enterprises to maximise business
and employment opportunities from major
projects and encourage local purchasing by
government, major resources and industry
projects.

•

•

•

Continued to deliver elements of the
Mid West Indigenous Arts Industry Strategic
Plan, including:
o Providing ongoing support for
the Wirnda Barna Art Centre in
Mount Magnet, which supports
Aboriginal artists from upper Murchison
communities including Yalgoo,
Mount Magnet, Karalundi, Sandstone,
Cue, Meekatharra and Yulga Jinna;
o Providing continued assistance for
Aboriginal art exhibitions including
Good HeArt (led by OPR), which
provided returns in 2013 of $105,000
to participating Aboriginal artists from
sales; and
o Supporting Yamaji Art in its expanded
role as a subregional art organisation
servicing Geraldton and hinterland
communities.

•

Worked with
funding recipients
to acquit four
Mid West projects
funded from
RfR through a
partnership with
Tourism WA
to assist dryseason affected
communities
diversify their
economies through
enhanced tourism
opportunities.

•

Continued to work with Murchison local
governments to establish a subregional
tourism approach that includes:
o Developing a marketing plan to
establish the Murchison as a significant
tourism destination in its own right;
o Supporting the further development of
Gascoyne Murchison Tourism Inc as a
strong regional tourism entity;
o Exploring options to develop Indigenous
pathways to complement the existing
Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways
drive trails;
o Provided funding and in kind support
to the biennial Astrofest event at
Murchison Settlement in partnership with
CSIRO and the Shire of Murchison; and
o Securing funding to develop a
subregional Murchison Gascoyne
tourism strategy.

Supported the development of ASKAP at the
Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory
(MRO) and plans for it to be incorporated into
Australia’s component of SKA Stage 1 by:
o Chairing and providing executive
support to, the Western Australian
Regional Advisory Group (WARAG),
which provided advice from regional
stakeholders to the Australian and
New Zealand SKA Coordinating
Committee;
o Working with Horizon Power and
DRD to support development of the
ASKAP power plant, which includes a
renewable energy (solar photovoltaic)
component.  This project includes
•
$10 million from the MWIP;
o Assisting the Shire of Murchison
prepare a business case for MWIP
funding to replace Ballinyoo Bridge on
the Carnarvon Mullewa Road, which is
the key access route to the MRO; and
o Working with Main Roads WA to
•
support the Shire of Murchison progress
road access issues.
Participated in the City of Greater Geraldton’s
IBM Smart Cities Challenge, which resulted
in the development of a Smart Cities strategy
for Greater Geraldton and the Towards a
Digital Geraldton and the Mid West strategy.

Via the Indigenous Coordination Centre,
supported the Yamaji NRM group to
prepare a feasibility study for Indigenous
“Green Teams” to undertake certifiable
environmental training in the region
that results in longer term employment
outcomes.
Worked with the Oil Mallee Association of
Australia and industry representatives on a
biomass boiler trial / demonstration seeking
a lower cost alternative to conventional
diesel boilers used in the extraction of
eucalyptus oil.
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Major Initiatives for 2013-14
•

•

•
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Continue to work with stakeholders
to develop a Mid West marine finfish
aquaculture industry by:
o Reviewing the potential viability of a
local industry against others globally;
o Completing an aquaculture
development plan to support industry to
progress from the current trial stage to
full commercialisation;
o Undertaking further trials to develop
knowledge and expertise in the
Mid West environment, solve problems
identified in previous trials and
demonstrate the industry’s potential for
possible investors;
o Working to streamline and focus
government services to the aquaculture
sector across the State to ensure best
value and adequate support is provided
to this developing industry; and
o Working with stakeholders on the
planned establishment of marine
aquaculture zone(s) in the Mid West.
Work with Department of Agriculture and
Food WA, Department of Environment
Regulation and pastoralists to enhance
the viability of pastoralism in the
Southern Rangelands.

•

Assist the Shire of Morawa undertake a
feasibility study and technical analysis of the
proposed Morawa Solar Thermal project,
which was allocated $500,000 from the
SuperTowns Project Development Fund.

•

In partnership with local governments in
the North Midlands, complete the NMEDS
and work to secure resources to implement
priority initiatives identified.

•

Complete subregional economic
development strategies for the Murchison
and Batavia Coast and undertake detailed
analysis of opportunities with the greatest
potential.

•

Work with the Department of State
Development’s International Trade
and Investment Team to prepare a
Mid West industry attraction strategy.

•

Use the Mid West Enquiries Register to
document significant investor interest in
the Mid West region and their infrastructure
requirements.

•

Work to develop and harness relationships
resulting from the recently formed Mid West
committee of the ACBC.

•

Continue to support the implementation
of the Mid West Indigenous Arts Industry
Strategic Plan, with major priorities being:
o Ongoing support to the developing
Wirnda Barna Art Centre in
Mount Magnet, which services the
upper Murchison subregion;
o Working with the Shire of Wiluna
and Birriliburru artists to determine
a sustainable way forward for
Tjukurba Art Gallery.

•

Support the implementation of Australia’s
component of the SKA Stage 1
(jointly hosted with South Africa) by:
o Providing local input to the (WA) SKA
Director General’s Working Group on
issues including power and roads;
o Progressing planning / work to enable the
construction of a replacement Ballinyoo
Bridge over the Murchison River; and
o Continuing to support the development
and subsequent operations of other
radio astronomy projects at the MRO
such as the Murchison Widefield Array.

Assist the Shire of Morawa deliver its town
centre revitalisation project.
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•

Capture regional outcomes from the SKA
and the MRO by:
o Identifying and progressing other
economic and community development
initiatives that can leverage off the
establishment of the SKA, other radio
astronomy projects and their associated
infrastructure; and
o Ensuring local businesses are well
informed of any potential opportunities
to supply goods or services to radio
astronomy projects at the MRO.

•

Work with local governments, industry
and peak interest groups to develop a
digital economy strategy for the region that
considers key opportunities and projects
that leverage off the region’s advanced
information and communications technology
(ICT) infrastructure.  The strategy will
provide key directions and result in
business case development for priority
digital technology initiatives in the region
(including mobile voice).

•

Work with the City of Greater Geraldton,
Tourism WA and the Mid West Chamber
of Commerce and Industry to establish
a Mid West Tourism Group that takes a
regional approach to tourism development
and ensures tourism is appropriately
recognised in current planning processes.

•

Work with the Shires of Yalgoo,
Mount Magnet Cue, Meekatharra,
Murchison, Sandstone, Upper Gascoyne,
to complete a Murchison Gascoyne
tourism strategy that facilitates a sustainable
and collaborative approach to tourism
development in the subregion.

•

Work with Bush Heritage Australia to
pursue opportunities for Badimaya people
in Mount Magnet, Yalgoo, Paynes Find
and surrounds to achieve cultural and
environmental outcomes at Charles Darwin
Nature Reserve.  There is potential to
work in partnership with Central Desert
Native Title Service in Wiluna to mentor and
assist with training in Badimaya lands.

Service 3: Infrastructure
and Services Development in the
Mid West
To facilitate the development of infrastructure
and services based on long-term economic
development strategies to support communities
and businesses in the Mid West.
AGENCY ACTIVITIES
•

Continued the implementation of the
Commission’s Mid West Investment
Plan (MWIP), which has been allocated
$220 million from RfR over five years to
address the region’s infrastructure priorities.  
Key MWIP outcomes in 2012-13 include:
o Entered into a memorandum of
Understanding with DRD for the
transfer of management responsibility
for implementation of the MWIP and
associated projects from DRD to MWDC;
o Established regionally based resources
and processes to implement the
MWIP’s priority projects;
o Announcement of MWIP funding
totalling more than $44.5 million for ten
projects; and
o The assessment and recommendation
for funding of a further seven projects
with a total project value of around
$16.5 million.  Approval of MWIP
funding for these projects will be sought
in 2013 14.
(Please refer to the tables at the end of this
Report on Operations section for full details
of MWIP allocations).
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•

Commenced development of a
Regional Blueprint for the Mid West that
sets the future development direction for
the region and serves as a link between
planning and investment.  The Blueprint
will be informed by a range of proposed
and recently completed regional plans and
align closely with the recently released
State Planning Strategy.  It will be based on
strong relationships with other government
agencies and industry groups and will
inform the Commission’s new strategic
plan.  Stage 1 of the project was completed
during 2012-13, which provided a detailed
stocktake of existing Mid West infrastructure
and services, relevant planning and projects
underway or proposed.

•

Worked with local governments to determine
regionally significant infrastructure projects
to share $8 million of RfR Country Local
Government Fund (CLGF) regional groups
funding.  The 11 priority projects identified
in 2012-13 included tourism and cultural
facilities, roads, a boat ramp, bridges,
coastal protection, vermin fencing and
communications initiatives.
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•

Supported the Geraldton Universities Centre
(GUC) in its efforts to achieve financial
sustainability by working its Board and staff to:
o Establish an expanded range of
courses, provide enhanced student
support through face-to-face contact
and employ an Aboriginal Student
Services Officer.  GUC courses are
offered through partnerships with
Australian universities and include
Journalism / Communications
through Charles Sturt University;
Learning Management, Accounting /
Business, Psychology and a university
bridging program (STEPS) through
Central Queensland University; and
Engineering with the University of
Southern Queensland.  These initiatives
were made possible by $1.053 million
secured from RfR in 2011-12 with
assistance from MWDC; and
o Secure $3 million from the RfR funded
MWIP to construct the GUC Stage 2
building to support the growing number
of student enrolments.  The building
is expected to be ready for the 2014
academic year.

•

Worked in partnership with the GUC,
Durack Institute of Technology, Combined
Universities Centre for Rural Health and
the City of Greater Geraldton to produce
a feasibility study / master plan for the
Geraldton Health, Education and Training
Accommodation Project (GHETAP).  The
project aims to meet the (short term)
accommodation needs of students and
staff in Geraldton’s health, education and
training precinct.

•

Worked closely with Centacare towards
achieving longer term management security
for the Bidi Bidi early childhood development
and parenting centre in Mount Magnet.

•

Worked with a Project Steering Group to
establish a Mid West Academy of Sport
to develop talented sub-elite athletes,
coaches and officials from within their home
environment.  The Academy’s 18 month
Establishment Phase commenced early in
2012-13 with work undertaken to develop
processes and secure resources to enable
operations and service delivery to begin
early in 2014.

•

Worked with developer of land sold as part
of stage one of the Batavia Coast Marina
redevelopment on issues related to:
o The development of the North Shore and
South Shore apartment buildings; and
o Proposed other developments,
including a hotel, tavern and off
property improvements.

•

Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton
and other stakeholders to support LandCorp
to undertake site investigations and planning
for stage 2 of the redevelopment of the
Batavia Coast Marina.  MWDC’s support
included the allocation of $3.86 million of
MWIP for preliminary works.

•

Administered the Commission’s Agency
Working Group and Mid West Strategic
Infrastructure Group (MWSIG).  These
groups function to collaboratively resolve
infrastructure bottlenecks and provide a
forum for agencies to share information
on major projects in the region.  Through
these groups the Commission assisted the
development of major projects by:
o Supporting the proposed Mid West
Development Project (Oakajee) and the
Oakajee Industrial Estate;
o Promoting the development of the
Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor
(ONIC) to provide a heavy freight bypass
around Geraldton and facilitate service
delivery to Oakajee and beyond;
o Providing Western Power with evidence
to support its business case for stage
two of the Mid West Energy Project;
o Providing information and support to
proponents investigating long term
power solutions for the Mid West;
o Monitoring data from Main Roads WA
to determine the increase in heavy
freight movements on the region’s road
transport infrastructure and help identify
the region’s road infrastructure priorities;
o Providing a forum for a debate on the
petroleum industry’s hydraulic fracturing
process to help ensure investment
decisions are made based on balanced
and informed decision making; and
o Working towards the effective colocation
of mining and science based projects
within the Square Kilometre Array’s
radio quiet zone.

•

Continued support
for the proposed
development
of a port, rail
and associated
infrastructure at
Oakajee through:
o Providing
information and
advice to the
State government
regarding the social
impact assessment work
completed to date;
o Ongoing liaison with proponents of
major resource projects;
o Facilitating the timely exchange of
information between agencies and
project proponents; and
o Active involvement in a number of
related consultation forums to identify
and mitigate the social impacts of the
project and determine how best to
capture community benefits.

•

Assisted Chinese and Korean companies
that have expressed interest in investing
in the Mid West Development Project
(Oakajee).

•

Worked with the Western Australian Museum
to investigate options for implementing the
masterplan for its Geraldton site in order to:
o Enhance the Geraldton Museum’s
status as one of the best regional
museums in Western Australia; and
o progress initiatives that will maximise
the vibrancy, attractiveness and amenity
of the Batavia Coast Marina precinct.

•

As members of the Sustainable Future City
Region Project Working Group, worked with
the City of Greater Geraldton on its ‘2029
and Beyond’ project to support the growth
and development of Greater Geraldton.

•

In partnership with the Department of
Housing and LandCorp, commenced a
Mid West Housing Needs Analysis to
profile the housing requirements of the
region and determine current and future
need for affordable social, key worker and
government housing.
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Major Initiatives for 2013-14
•

Continue to progress ‘Flagship’ and other
high priority projects identified in the
Commission’s MWIP.

•

Complete the Mid West Regional Blueprint
and detailed phase 1 implementation plan
that sets the future development direction for
the Mid West region.

•

With guidance from the Mid West
Regional Blueprint, develop a new
Strategic Plan to guide the future
organisational objectives and operations of
the Commission.

•

Continue to work through the Commission’s
Mid West Strategic Infrastructure Group
(MWSIG) and the Agency Working Group
to progress projects such as the northern
section of the Mid West Energy project,
construction of a deepwater port at
Oakajee, advancing the ONIC project, the
determination of the costs of services to
the Oakajee Industrial estate, the viability
of a heavy freight bypass from Dongara
to Northampton and the finalisation of the
Mid West Water Supply Strategy.

•
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Continue to work with and support the GUC
to complete its stage 2 building, further
expand its range of courses and grow
student numbers.
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•

Continue to support private investment
interest in the Mid West Development
Project (Oakajee).

•

Continue to work with the GHETAP steering
committee to progress the development of
the proposed accommodation facility by:
o Finalising the business case / master
plan for the precinct;
o Developing detailed plans for the
project; and
o Establishing a governance and funding
model to address whole of precinct
issues and facilitate GHETAP’s
development.

•

Continue to work with the proponents of the
Bidi Bidi early childhood development and
parenting centre to address the Murchison’s
relatively poor Australian Early Development
Index (AEDI) results.  Succession planning
will be a priority along with identification of
potential future funding sources.

•

Continue to support the Commission’s
Agency Working Group and MWSIG.  
These groups work to collaboratively
resolve infrastructure bottlenecks, advocate
for the timely development of supply chain
infrastructure and provide a forum for
agencies to share information on major
resource and infrastructure projects in the
Mid West.

•

Support the Mid West Academy of Sport
complete its Establishment Phase and
secure resources necessary to commence
operations early in 2014.

•

Work with proponents to progress the
proposed hotel and other developments
on land sold as part of stage one of the
Batavia Coast Marina redevelopment.

•

Continue to work with LandCorp, City of
Greater Geraldton and other stakeholders to
progress the detailed planning stage 2 of the
Batavia Coast Marina redevelopment.

•

Work with the City of Greater Geraldton on
its ‘2029 and Beyond, Sustainable Future
Greater Geraldton City Region’ project to
support the growth and development of
Geraldton and surrounds.

•

Work with the Western Australian Museum to:
o Secure funding to develop detailed
plans required for implementing the
masterplan for its Geraldton facility; and
o Develop the business case needed to
secure funding for construction and
fitout of the proposed expansion and
associated improvements.

•

Work to improve mobile phone coverage
in the region and address mobile phone
blackspots by:
o Supporting the Department of
Commerce (DoC) to deliver the
Regional Mobile Communications
Project (RMCP), and
o Working with local government
authorities and DoC to investigate
mobile phone coverage solutions in
areas not covered by the initial stage
of RMCP.

•

Deliver the Mid West Housing Needs
Analysis to provide the Department of
Housing and MWDC guidance on the
prioritisation of MWIP funding for housing.
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Royalties for Regions – Mid West Investment Plan
The Commission supported ten projects for funding from its Mid West Investment Plan during
2012-13.  The following projects received funding.

Mid West Investment Plan funded projects for 2012-13
Organisation

Project Name

Funding (ex GST)

Geraldton Universities Centre

Stage 2 Buildings

Silver Chain

Silver Chain Eneabba Remote Area Health Centre

$100,000

Shire of Yalgoo

Yalgoo Community Sports Hub

$285,909

Shire of Northampton

Northampton Light Industrial Units

$661,000

Main Roads WA

Wubin-Mullewa Road

$10,800,000

Main Roads WA

Goldfields Highway

$10,000,000

City of Greater Geraldton

Geraldton Airport Landside Development

City of Greater Geraldton /
Department of Housing

Building Better Regional Cities - Urban Expansion
Project

City of Greater Geraldton

Original Railway Building Restoration

$1,000,000

Country High School Hostels
Authority

Geraldton Residential College

$2,000,000

10 PROJECTS

TOTAL

$3,000,000

$2,755,000
$13,970,000

$44,571,909

Royalties for Regions Mid West Regional Grant Scheme
The Commission allocated $116,096 from the third contestable round of the MWRGS for a
Small Grants Scheme funding pool.  MWDC provided $103,207 to 14 projects during 2012-13,
with the balance to be allocated in 2013-14.  The following projects received funding.

Regional Grants Scheme funded projects for 2012-13
Organisation

Project Name

Funding (ex GST)

Mount Magnet Race Club

Outside running rail for track

$5,920

Geraldton Regional
Community Education Centre

OSCCA Shade Structures

$3,500

Coorow Golf Club

Water Catchment Scheme

$7,950

Shire of Northampton
(auspice for Binnu Balla
Progress Association)

Binnu Hall Playground Shade Dome Project

$4,000

Shire of Chapman Valley

Nabawa Cemetery Enhancement

$10,000
continued...
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... continued

Regional Grants Scheme funded projects for 2012-13
Organisation

Project Name

Funding (ex GST)

Northampton District Bowling
Club

Bowling Equipment

Shire of Mount Magnet

Fitness Centre Fitout

Northampton Friends of the
Railway Inc

Heritage Information Board and Shelter Structure

$4,028

Kalbarri SES Unit

Kalbarri SES Boat and Trailer Storage Garage

$9,618

Lions Club

Geraldton Lions Caravan

Shire of Coorow

Tools for men’s shed Green Head

$8,973

UWA (Combined Universities
Centre for Rural Health)

Project Connect

$9,218

Shire of Yalgoo

Paynes Find Telephone Box Solar Lighting

$9,000

Monsignor Hawes Heritage Inc

Monsignor Hawes Heritage Trail – Stage 1 planning

14 PROJECTS

TOTAL

$1,000
$10,000

$10,000

$10,000
$103,207

Regional Development Scheme
The Commission supported seven projects for funding from the Mid West Regional Development
Scheme during 2012-13.  The following projects received funding.

Regional Development Scheme funded projects for 2012-13
Organisation

Project Name

Funding (ex GST)

Shire of Mount Magnet

Development of Main Street Master Plan

$7,500

Shire of Three Springs

Town Revitalisation Plan

$7,500

Pollinators

Mid West Social Innovation Series

$20,000

Shire of Yalgoo

Murchison Tourism Strategy

$20,000

Monsignor Hawes Heritage Inc

Monsignor Hawes Heritage Trail
– Stage 2 installation

$20,000

Mid West Development
Commission - on behalf
of a Geraldton community
consortium

Dine with the Giants

Mid West Chamber of
Commerce and Industry

Mid West Networks and Business Development
Program

$15,000

7 PROJECTS

TOTAL

$92,500

$2,500
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Actual results versus budget targets

Financial Targets
Target
$000

Actual
$000

Variance
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(details from Income Statement)

5,037

3,644

(1,393)

Net cost of services
(details from Income Statement)

5,036

3,421

(1,615)

Total equity
(details from Balance Sheet)

2,335

3,675

1,340

(1,787)

335

2,122

15

11.7

(3.3)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
(details from Cash Flow Statement)
Approved full time equivalent (FTE)
staff level

The variances for total cost and net cost of
services are primarily due to a delay in receiving
budgeted RfR income to 2013-14, combined
with a deferral of Batavia Coast Marina (BCM)
expenditure.
The variance in total equity mainly reflects
an unbudgeted carryover of MWIP funding to
2013-14 combined with the deferral in BCM
expenditure.
The variance in net increase in cash held
reflects carryover RfR funding, unbudgeted
MWIP funding and deferral of BCM expenditure.
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The variance in approved full time equivalent
staff reflects in part budgeted positions being
vacant for extended periods during the financial
year.
For explanation on Income Statement
variances, refer to Note 29 of the Financial
Statements on page 59 of this report.

Summary of Key Performance Indicators
The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the
achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between
the services delivered and the resources used to produce the service.
Target

Actual

Variance

Clients agreeing that the
Commission reduced obstacles
to economic growth and
employment

42%

42%

-

Clients agreeing that the
Commission contributed to the
development of a new business
opportunity

63%

63%

-

•

Clients agreeing that the
Commission contributed to more
trade activity

30%

34%

4%

•

Clients agreeing that the
Commission contributed to the
retention of staff and/or expansion
of employment opportunities

28%

36%

8%

$1,206
$92

$667
$102

($539)
$10

$38,892

$63,341

$24,449

$72,434

$35,180

($37,254)

Outcome: An environment conducive
to the balanced economic and social
development of the Mid West region
Key Effectiveness Indicators:
•

•

Service 1: Information & Advice
Key Efficiency Indicators:
Cost per client visit
Cost per client inquiry
Service 2: Investment Facilitation
Key Efficiency Indicator:
Average cost per project
Service 3: Infrastructure and Services
Development in the Mid West
Key Efficiency Indicator:
Average cost per project
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Key Effectiveness Indicators

Key Efficiency Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are
measured through an annual client perceptions
survey, conducted by independent market
research company.  Surveys were sent to 240
clients that had contact with the Commission
during 2012-13, with 167 completed surveys
returned (response rate of 70%).

Average unit cost per client inquiry for Service 1
– Information and Advice was above target
which is attributable to an increase in board
remuneration.  The total numbers of client visits
and contacts were above target due mainly to
engagement relating to the MWIP, Mid West
Regional Blueprint and subregional economic
development strategies.  

To support the balanced economic and social
development of the region the Commission
works to help reduce obstacles to growth;
develop new business opportunities; increase
trade activity; and retain staff / expand
employment opportunities.  Accordingly, clients
were asked questions regarding business
development outcomes that were facilitated by
contact with the Commission.  

Total costs for Service 2 – Investment Facilitation
were significantly above target due mainly to
unbudgeted expenses relating to the MWIP
and the development of sub-regional economic
development strategies.  This equated to a
notably higher average cost per project.
The average cost per project for Service 3
– Infrastructure and Services Development was
significantly lower than target, due mainly to the
deferral in budgeted BCM expenditure.
For further explanation on variances, please
refer to page 67 of this report.  Please note that
within the audited Key Performance Indicators,
target and actual total costs and unit costs have
been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies
Expense.
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES
IMPACTING THE AGENCY
The Commission’s operations are influenced by major current
and future opportunities and challenges in the region.  These
include the following.
•

The Commission’s Mid West Investment
•
Plan (MWIP), which is supported by
$220 million of Royalties for Regions funding,
will leverage public and private investment in
priority infrastructure for the region.

•

A regional growth and development strategy
to be known as a ‘Regional Blueprint’,
led by the relevant regional development
commissions, will be implemented in each
region of the State.  The Regional Blueprint
will be based on an aspirational vision
led approach and holistic and integrated
strategic planning.  The purpose of the
Regional Blueprint is to help transform
a region from its current status and
position it to attain sustainable growth and
development goals.  The Commission will
be undertaking significant work to develop
a Mid West Regional Blueprint in 2013‑14.  
The final Blueprint will be developed
ensuring that the Regional Development
Australia Mid West Gascoyne regional
planning process merges into the Blueprint
document.

•

Through its Mid West Strategic Infrastructure
Group, the Commission supports the
coordinated development of major projects
in the region.  Establishment of a significant
iron ore industry in the region will be
facilitated by development of a deepwater
port and industrial estate at Oakajee;
strategic rail links; an upgraded power
network; preparation of a Mid West water
supply plan; and the availability of a skilled
workforce.

The region’s economy is
heavily reliant on primary
commodity exports, exposing
it to market fluctuations and
climate change impacts. Initiatives
to diversify the region’s economic base
include progressing information technology
related opportunities; realising the region’s
vast renewable energy potential; supporting
marine based aquaculture research and
development; and realising the region’s
tourism potential.

•

The region has a relatively high Indigenous
population, which drives the need for
initiatives that will support Indigenous
employment, education and business
outcomes.

•

Around 83% of the region is classified
as remote, which presents challenges to
provide and maintain infrastructure and
services.  The Commission continues to
support the Geraldton Universities Centre
to enhance access to tertiary education
in the region; the Murchison Executive
Group to collaborate in the Murchison
subregion; improved infrastructure via its
MWIP; and Morawa’s development as part
of the Regional Centres Development Plan
(SuperTowns).
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
Financial Statements
Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013.
The accompanying financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission have been
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended
30 June 2013 and the financial position as at 30 June 2013.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

J. POTTS							G. TREASURE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER		
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
4 September 2013						4 September 2013

HON M CRIDDLE					
CHAIRMAN
4 September 2013
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2013
Note
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

2013
$

2012
$

6
7
8
9
10
11
12

1,481,035
672,521
79,338
193,545
1,176,709
713
40,438
3,644,299

1,105,877
784,457
49,710
242,918
3,485,978
4,717
38.531
5,712,188

13

223,767
223,767
223,767
3,420,532

307,968
307,968
307,968
5,404,220

14
14
14

1,452,000
6,556
2,429,920
3,888,476
467,944

1,675,000
9,704
1,695,994
3,380,698
(2,023,522)

467,944

(2,023,522)

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2013
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Amounts due to the Treasurer
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

Note

2013
$

2012
$

25
15, 25
16
17

150,287
1,629,591
102,121
20,000
1,901,999

341,034
1,103,970
317,336
20,000
1,782,340

17
18
19

153,000
3,128,784
1,028
3,282,812
5,184,811

145,000
3,184,960
6,192
3,336,152
5,118,492

21
23

146,262
287,784
434,046

544,093
331,685
875,778

22
23

960,000
116,124
1,076,124
1,510,170
3,674,641

960,000
76,017
1,036,017
1,911,795
3,206,697

24
24
24

355,946
1,872,761
1,445,934
3,674,641

355,946
1,872,761
977,990
3,206,697

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Reserves

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)

Total equity

$

$

$

$

Balance at 1 July 2011
24
Surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2012

355,946
-

1,872,761
-

3,001,512
(2,023,522)
(2,023,522)

5,230,219
(2,023,522)
(2,023,522)

355,946

1,872,761

977,990

3,206,697

Balance at 1 July 2012
Surplus/(deficit)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2013

355,946
-

1,872,761
-

977,990
467,944
467,944

3,206,697
467,944
467,944

355,946

1,872,761

1,445,934

3,674,641

Note

Contributed
equity

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2013
Note

2013
$

2012
$

1,424,000

1,647,000

20,000
2,429,920
3,873,920

20,000
1,695,994
149,091
3,512,085

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Grants and subsidies
Other payments

(1,490,386)
(709,227)
(218,085)
(243,360)
(46,334)
(1,486,122)
(44,982)

(1,200,013)
(762,521)
(179,250)
(458,473)
(20,424)
(3,390,465)
(4,717)

Receipts
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

30,782
246,136
441,242
(3,520,336)

2,366
468,578
123,388
(5,421,531)

(18,711)
(18,711)

(600,663)
(600,663)

334,873
1,445,005
1,779,878

(2,510,109)
3,955,114
1,445,005

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriation
Holding account drawdowns
Royalties for Regions Fund
State Government grants and subsidies
Net cash provided by State Government

-

25

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

25

-

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
The Commission has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption of
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Commission for the
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2013.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Commission is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation
of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention,
except for land which has been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout
all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made
in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements.
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Mid West Development Commission.  The Mid West Development Commission was
established under the Regional Development Commissions Act (1993) on April 8, 1994.  The Act also repealed the
Geraldton Mid West Development Authority Act (1988) and determined that all assets and liabilities would transfer to
the Mid West Development Commission from that date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers
can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners
by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to
Contributed equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements,
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Commission gains control of
the appropriated funds.  The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to
the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions,
usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains
control over the funds.   The Commission obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the
Commission’s bank account.
Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of
similar items which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date
of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and historical
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land is carried at fair value and accumulated impairment losses.  All other
items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying
values determined by reference to recent market transactions.
Land is independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end
of the reporting period.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis
to assets and in determining estimated useful life.  Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
Refer to note 18 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as
described in note 18 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Furniture & Fittings
Office Equipment
Computer Hardware
Software (a)		

10 to 15 years
5 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years

(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.
Land is not depreciated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed
(amortised) over their useful life.   Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair
value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have
a finite useful life and zero residual value.  
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software (a)		
Web site costs

3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.
Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment.  Software that
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000
is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development
of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised.  Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the
planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.   Costs
incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can
be reliably measured, are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each
reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and written down to the recoverable amount
and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated
replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated,
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration
of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of
material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined
by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is
measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Refer to note 20 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Noncurrent assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position.  Assets classified as
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

(j) Leases
The Commission holds operating leases for motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over
the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
• Payables
• Amounts due to the Treasurer
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent)
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 21 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year.  
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Commission considers the carrying amount
of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value

(n) Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
The Commission receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account
receivable).   The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement
to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.   Refer to note 14 ‘Income from State Government’ and
note 17’Amounts receivable for services’.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are
written‑off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there
is objective evidence that the Commission will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  Refer also to note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 16 ‘Receivables’.

(p) Payables
Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of
assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.  Refer to
note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 21 ‘Payables’.

(q) Amounts due to the Treasurer
Initial recognition and measurement, and subsequent measurement, is at the amount repayable.  Although there is
no interest charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than
12 months with the effect of discounting not being material.  Refer to note 22 ‘Amounts due to the Treasurer’.

(r) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period.  Refer to note 23 ‘Provisions’.
Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting  period.
Annual leave
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Commission does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Preconditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Conditional
long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  Eligibility criteria for
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation
dates.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(r) Provisions (continued)
Superannuation (continued)
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new
members since 1995.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the
GSS become non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012,
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation
fund provider.   The Commission makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions
to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Commissions liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is
a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by
the Commission to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are
assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission
to the GESB.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer
for the employer’s share.
Provisions - Other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(s) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the
GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, the GESBS and other superannuation funds.

(t) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair
value.  Where the resource received represents a service that the Commission would otherwise pay for, a corresponding
expense is recognised.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
Assets or services are received from another State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from
State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(u) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current
financial year.
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
No judgements have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date do not
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Commission is not required to apply any initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

(b) Voluntary changes in accounting policy
There have been no changes in accounting policy during the financial year.

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by
TI 101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Commission
has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact
the Commission.   Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these Standards and Interpretations from their
application date:
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 9

Financial Instruments

1 Jan 2015

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of
changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
–
 Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures
amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1
January 2015.   The Commission has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 10

Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation –
Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to
accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments
to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and
Other Amendments. The Commission has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 11

Joint Arrangements

1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures,
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year
for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10.  The Commission has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
AASB 12

Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and
AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year
for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10.  The Commission has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
AASB 13

Fair Value Measurement

1 Jan 2013

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for
measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements.  There is no financial impact.
AASB 119

Employee Benefits

1 Jan 2013

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making
changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure
requirements.
The Commission does not have any defined benefit plans,
and therefore the financial impact will be limited to the effect of
discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that
were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts.
AASB 127

Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, introducing a number of changes to
accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year
for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10.  The Commission has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 128

Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates,
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year
for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Commission has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
AASB 1053

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

1 Jul 2013

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for
preparing general purpose financial statements.   There is no
financial impact.
AASB 1055

Budgetary Reporting

1 Jul 2014

This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the
circumstances in which they are to be included in the general
purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the
GGS.   The Commission will be required to disclose additional
budgetary information and explanations of major variances
between actual and budgeted amounts, through there is not
financial impact.
AASB 2010-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101,
102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127,
128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and
Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure
requirements for certain types of entities.  There is no financial
impact.
AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108,
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 &
1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2015

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.   The Commission has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.  
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 2011-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting.  There is no financial
impact.
AASB 2011-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Extending Relief From Consolidation the Equity Method and
Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
[AASB‑127, 128 & 131]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity
method and proportionate consolidation by removing the
requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared
by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and
the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian
Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting Standards –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  There is no financial impact.
AASB 2011-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136,
138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from
the issuance of AASB10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures.   For not-for-profit entities it applies to annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2013.  
The Commission has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2011-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118,
119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141,
1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair
value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in
September 2011.  There is no financial impact.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 2011-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 &
2011-8 and Int 14]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in
September 2011.  There is no financial impact.
AASB 2011-11

Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from
Reduced Disclosure Requirements

1 Jul 2013

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for
AASB 119 (September 2011).  There is no financial impact.
AASB 2012-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Fair Value Measurement – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
[AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]

1 Jul 2013

The standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure
requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising
from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented
through AASB 2011-8.  There is no financial impact.
AASB 2012-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
[AASB 7 & 132]

1 Jan 2013

The Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to
include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting
arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the
entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial
liabilities, on the entity’s financial position.  There is not financial
impact.
AASB 2012-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [ASB 132]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting
criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.  There
is no financial impact.
AASB 2012-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 &
134 and Int 2]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual
improvements process.  There is no financial impact.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 2012-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures
[AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7 & 2011-8]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of
AASB9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015.   Further
amendments are also made to consequential amendments
arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from1 January 2015 and
to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards that
will still apply from 1 January 2013.  There is not financial impact.
AASB 2012-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting
Standards to provide further information regarding the differential
reporting framework and the two tiers of reporting requirements
for preparing general financial statements.  There is no financial
impact.
AASB 2012-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8,
10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133,
134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 and Int 12]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related
Standards to revise the transition guidance relevant to the initial
application of those Standards, and to clarify the circumstances
in which adjustments to an entity’s previous accounting for its
involvement with other entities are required and the time of such
adjustments.
The Standard was issued in December 2012.  The Commission
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.
AASB 2012-11

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced
Disclosure Requirements and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8,
10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 2011-4]
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
(Tier 2).   These corrections ensure that the Standards reflect
decisions of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the
equity method (in the new Consolidation and Joint Arrangements
Standards) to entities complying with Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.   There is no
financial impact.

(d) Changes in accounting estimates
There have been no changes in accounting estimates during the financial year.
50

MWDC Annual Report 2012-13

1 Jul 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)
Other related expenses

2013
$
1,274,709
142,022
64,304
1,481,035

2012
$
938,101
122,245
45,531
1,105,877

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements
including superannuation contribution component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESBS and other eligible funds.
Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.  
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 23 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7. Supplies and Services

2013
$
107,414
17,827
326,114
42,052
8,834
51,290
24,518
48,714
45,758
672,521

2012
$
35,567
25,175
290,338
58,403
14,477
23,673
28,095
41,064
218,036
49,629
784,457

Depreciation
Office equipment
Communications
Computer hardware
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Total depreciation

2013
$

2012
$

3,013
2,100
7,976
61,085
74,174

2,596
2,100
9,391
30,459
44,546

Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

5,164
5,164
79,338

5,164
5,164
49,710

2013
$
157,167

2012
$
213,518

22,754
13,473
151
193,545

28,890
-

Board fees
Communications
Consultants and contractors
Consumables
Equipment repairs and maintenance
Labour hire
Operating leases - vehicles
Travel
Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow Out Trial
Other

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense

Note 9. Accommodation expenses
Building rental operating lease expense
Electricity
Cleaning
Repairs and maintenance

510
242,918
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Note 10. Grants and subsidies
Recurrent
Regional Development Scheme (a)
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Grant Scheme - Round 1 (2009)
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Grant Scheme - Round 2 (2010)
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Grant Scheme - Round 3 (2011)
Australia's Coral Coast (Blue Region Tourism Organisation Inc.)
Rural Health West
City of Greater Geraldton
Gascoyne Murchison Tourism Inc.
Shire of Morawa
Shire of Coorow
Capital
City of Greater Geraldton - Foreshore Redevelopment

2013
$

2012
$

82,085
202,164
600,616
253,844
8,000
-

         212,029
         581,188
     1,820,645
         533,786
           18,000
             1,330
           25,000
           28,000
           28,000
           18,000

30,000          220,000
1,176,709
3,485,978

(a) Includes the reallocation to new recipients of funds granted in earlier rounds of the Regional Development Scheme
(RDS) which were either not utilised at all or exceeded the actual requirements of the original recipients.  These funds
were returned to the RDS funding pool and allocated to or available for allocation to new projects

Note 11. Net loss on disposal of non-current assets
Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Computer Hardware
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Net loss

Note 12. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a)
Other expenses

2013
$

2012
$

-              4,717
713
             713
4,717

2013
$
7,778
32,660

2012
$
6,982
31,549

40,438

38,531

(a)  Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-costs liability associated with
the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at Note 23 'Provisions'.  Superannuation contributions
accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Note 13 Other revenue
Refund of unused RDS grants
Refund of unused RGS grants
Other expenses
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2013
$
2,795
220,972

2012
$
23,441
284,527

223,767

307,968
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Note 14. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)

Resources received free of charge (b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Department of Finance
Royalties for Regions Fund:
- Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account
- Regional Community Services Account
- Country Local Government Fund

2013
$

2012
$

1,452,000
1,452,000

1,675,000
1,675,000

6,556
6,556

9,704
9,704

711,000
1,688,763
30,157
2,429,920
3,888,476

1,695,994
1,695,994
3,380,698

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component
and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the
assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated.
Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

Note 15. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Batavia Coast Marina Redevelopment
Country Local Government Fund
Enhanced Visitor Dispersal Batavia Coast
Exploring Wildflower Country Marketing & Promotion
Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways Project
Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways Promotion
Geraldton Foreshore Redevelopment
Geraldton Health, Education and Training Accommodation Project
Midwest Digital Economy Strategy
Midwest Science Forum
Murchison IT Training & Support project
Pacific Flora 2004
Regional Development Scheme
Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits Fund
Royalties for Regions Fund
Tourist Information Bays Indian Ocean Drive
Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow-out Trial

2013
$
502,271
65,134
8,584
13,263
33,318
22,500
1,226
20,000
3,091
126,759
200,000

2012
$
502,271
169,844
2,000
2,000
13,106
2,000
133,263
47,500
2,000
20,000
3,091
204,270
-

599,741
33,704
1,629,591

625
2,000
1,103,970
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Note 16. Receivables
Current
GST receivable
Receivables
Total Current

Note 17. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current
Non-current

2013
$

2012
$

60,548
41,573
102,121

55,938
261,398
317,336

2013
$
20,000
153,000
173,000

2012
$
20,000
145,000
165,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset
replacement or payment of leave liability.

Note 18. Property, plant & equipment

2013
$

2012
$

15,064
(3,013)
12,051

19,171
(19,171)
-

10,287
(8,187)
2,100

10,287
(6,086)
4,201

23,929
(20,605)
3,324

23,929
(12,629)
11,300

609,027
(91,354)
517,673

612,660
(36,837)
575,823

2,593,636
2,593,636
3,128,784

2,593,636
2,593,636
3,184,960

Office equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Communications
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Computer hardware
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furniture fixtures & Fittings
At Cost
Accumulated Depreciation
Land
At fair value

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are
set out in the table below:

2013
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals (written down value)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
2012
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals (written down value)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
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Office
equipment

$
2,596
(2,596)
-

$
15,064
(3,013)
12,051

Communications

Computer
hardware

Furniture,
fixtures &
fittings

$
575,824
3,647
(713)
(61,085)
517,673

$
2,593,636
2,593,636

$
3,184,960
18,711
(713)
(74,174)
3,128,784

$
6,300
(2,100)
4,200

$
25,408
(4,717)
(9,391)
11,300

$
903
605,380
(30,459)
575,824

$
2,593,636
2,593,636

$
2,628,843
605,380
(4,717)
(44,546)
3,184,960

$
4,200
(2,100)
2,100

$
11,300
(7,976)
3,324

Land

Total
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Note 19. Intangible assets
Computer software
At Cost
Accumulated Amortisation
Website
At Cost
Accumulated Amortisation
Total intangible assets

2013
$

2012
$

15,492
(14,464)
1,028

48,084
(41,892)
6,192

18,096
(18,096)
1,028

18,096
(18,096)
6,192

6,192
(5,164)
1,028

11,356
(5,164)
6,192

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

Note 20. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2013.
The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  At the
end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

Note 21. Payables
Current
Accrued salaries
Accrued expenses
Trade payables
Total current

Note 22. Amounts due to the Treasurer
Non-Current
Amount due to the Treasurer

2013
$

2012
$

36,490
55,960
53,812
146,262

24,442
390,486
129,165
544,093

2013
$

2012
$

960,000
960,000

960,000
960,000

A liability of $5,000,000 relating to capital works at the Geraldton Foreshore and Marina was transferred to the
Geraldton Mid West Development Authority (now the Mid West Development Commission) by the Department of
Marine and Harbours on 30 June 1993.   Since that time repayments totalling $4,040,000 have been made to the
Consolidated fund thereby reducing the outstanding indebtedness to $960,000.  The loan is interest free and has no
set repayment terms. Accordingly it has been carried at face value.
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Note 23. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual Leave (a)
Long Service Leave (b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long Service Leave (b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

2013
$

2012
$

218,988
62,343
281,331

223,627
100,620
324,247

6,453
6,453
287,784

7,438
7,438
331,685

113,520
113,520

74,313
74,313

2,604
2,604

1,704
1,704

116,124

76,017

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is
expected to occur as follows:
2013
2012
$
$
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
101,871
79,315
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
117,117
144,312
218,988
223,627
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities
is expected to occur as follows:
2013
2012
$
$
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
6,509
56,723
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
169,354
118,210
175,863

174,933

(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including
worker’s compensation insurance.  The Commission considers the carrying amount of employee on-costs approximates
the net fair value.  
The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.
Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits,
are set out below:
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits
Carrying amount at end of period
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2013
$

2012
$

9,141
3,976
(4,060)
9,057

10,893
666
(2,418)
9,141
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Note 24. Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community. Equity represents the
residual interest in the net assets of the Commission.  
Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Balance at end of period

2013
$
355,946
355,946

2012
$
355,946
355,946

2013
$
1,872,761
1,872,761

2012
$
1,872,761
1,872,761

2013
$
977,990
467,944
1,445,934
3,674,641

2012
$
3,001,512
(2,023,522)
977,990
3,206,697

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period
Net revaluation increments - land
Balance at end of period

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period
Result for the period
Balance at end of period
Total equity at end of period
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Note 25. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the
Statement of Financial Position as follows:
2013
2012
$
$
Cash and cash equivalents
150,287
341,034
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 15 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)
1,629,591
1,103,970
1,779,878
1,445,004
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Resources received free of charge
Net (gain)/loss on sale of plant and equipment
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a)
Exclude receivables movements relating to:
  - Revenues from State Government
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a)
Current provisions
Non-current provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

2013
$
(3,420,532)

2012
$
(5,404,220)

79,338
6,556
713

49,710
9,704
4,717

219,825

(38,963)

-

(153,807)

(397,831)
(43,901)
40,107

205,386
(25,146)
(72,103)

(12,775)
8,164
(3,520,336)

(7,953)
11,144
(5,421,531)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of
the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transaction.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

Note 26. Commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST were relevant.
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2013
$
177,206
363,084
540,290

2012
$
174,923
539,840
714,763

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent payable
monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall
increase by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum.  An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the five year term for an
additional term of five years.
Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the balance sheet date but not
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
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2013
$
1,859,995
1,859,995

2012
$
2,482,581
2,482,581

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 27. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
At reporting date, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its land to the Stage Two development of the
Batavia Cost Marina to Landcorp.  If this occurs the Commission’s associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will
be repaid by the project.

Note 28. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
No events, matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the Commission, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the
Commission in future financial years.

Note 29. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial
statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below: Significant
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $20,000.
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2013

Income
Other revenue
Royalties for Regions Fund
Expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses

2013
Estimates
$

2013
Actual
$

Variation
$

1,000
1,547,000

223,767
2,429,920

(222,767)
(882,920)

20,000
170,000
2,595,000
155,000

79,338
193,545
1,176,709
713
40,438

(59,338)
(23,545)
1,418,291
(713)
114,562

Other revenue
The variance is primarily due to the Commission receiving unbudgeted funds in relation to renewable energy power
solutions and the Geraldton Health, Education and Training Accommodation Project, together with the return and write
back of grant funding from the Regional Development Scheme.
Royalties for Regions Fund
The variance is due to the timing of funding drawn down to meet actual requirements.
Accommodation
The variance is primarily due to actual expenditure being reclassified from other expenses, together with unbudgeted
electricity costs associated with our previous tenancy.
Grants and subsidies
The $1.4 million variance is primarily due to MWRGS grant recipients being paid in instalments over the period of their
project, which often results in related expenditure being reflected over more than one financial year.
Other expenses
The variance is due to the reclassification of expense that has resulted in a number of actual expense categories
being reported in supplies and services and accommodation instead of other expenses.
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Note 29. Explanatory statement (cont’d)
Signficant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2012

Income
Service appropriation
Other revenue
Royalties for Regions Fund

2013
$

2012
$

Variance
$

1,452,000
223,767
2,429,920

1,675,000
307,968
1,695,994

(223,000)
(84,201)
733,926

Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies

1,481,035
672,521
79,338
193,545
1,176,709

1,105,877
784,457
49,710
242,918
3,485,978

375,158
(111,936)
29,628
(49,373)
(2,309,269)

Service appropriation
Funding reduction in the Commission’s 2012-13 appropriation reflects government savings measures.
Other revenue
Revenue received in 2012 was boosted by one off proceeds from the Yellow Tail Kingfish grow-out trial.  This has been
largely offset by funding received for a renewable energy power solutions and contributions for the Geraldton Health,
Education and Training Accommodation Project.
Royalties for Regions Fund
The Royalties for Regions funding received reflects the transfer of the Mid West Investment Plan to the commission
combined with expected cash flow requirements for the financial year.
Employee benefits expense
The variance is primarily due to the transfer of the Mid West Investment Plan.
Supplies and services
The variance is mainly due to costs associated with the Yellow Tail King Fish grow-out trial project being finalised in
2012.  This combined with normal fluctuations in expenditures on professional services of which the timing and amount
of such expenditure is largely driven by the specific needs of individual projects, which varies from year to year.
Accommodation expenses
The reduction reflects the decrease in costs associated with the relocation to new premises in 2012.
Grants and subsidies
The variance reflects the decrease in grants provided for the Royalties for Regions Fund.  The project payments vary
from year to year depending on the milestones achieved in accordance with grant funding conditions.
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Note 30. Financial instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission’s overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Commission.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at
note 30 (c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’ and Note 16 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Commission has policies in place to ensure that services are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with
the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable
data indicating changes in client credit ratings.   For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to
Note 30 (c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Commission’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Commission does not trade in foreign
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables (a)

2013
$

2012
$

150,287
1,629,591
214,573

341,034
1,103,970
426,398

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

1,106,262

1,504,093

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 30. Financial instruments (cont’d)
(c) Financial instruments disclosures
Credit risk
The following table details the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial
assets. The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of
financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired
and impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.
The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.
Aged analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)
Amounts receivable for services

2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)
Amounts receivable for services

Not past due
and not
impaired
$

150,287
1,629,591
41,573
173,000
1,994,451

150,287
1,629,591
41,573
173,000
1,994,451

-

-

-

-

-

-

341,034
1,103,970
261,398
165,000
1,871,402

341,034
1,103,970
261,398
165,000
1,871,402

-

-

-

-

-

-

Up to
3 months
$

3-12
months
$

1-2
years
$

2-5 More than
years
5 years
$
$

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Impaired
financial
assets

Carrying
Amount
$

$
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(c) Financial instruments disclosures (cont’d)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts
are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the balance sheet date.  The table includes interest and principal
cash flows.  An adjustment has been made where material.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate
%

Carrying
Amount
$

Fixed
interest
rate
$

Variable
interest
rate
$

Maturity dates

Non
interest
bearing
$

Nominal
amount
$

Up to 3
months
$

41,573

2013
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)

-

150,287
1,629,591
41,573

-

-

150,287
1,629,591
41,573

150,287
1,629,591
41,573

Amounts receivable for services

-

173,000

-

-

173,000

173,000

-

1,994,451

-

1,994,451

1,994,451

-

146,262
960,000

-

-

146,262
960,000

146,262
960,000

-

-

1,106,262

-

-

1,106,262

1,106,262

-

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Amounts due to the Treasurer

-

3-12
months
$

41,573

1-2
years
$

2-5
years
$

More
than
5 years
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate
%
2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)

-

Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Amounts due to the Treasurer

Carrying
Amount
$

Fixed
interest
rate
$

Variable
interest
rate
$

Maturity dates

Non
interest
bearing
$

Nominal
amount
$

Up to 3
months
$

341,034
1,103,970
261,398

341,034
1,103,970
261,398

261,398

341,034
1,103,970
261,398

-

-

-

165,000

-

-

165,000

165,000

-

1,871,402

-

-

1,871,402

1,871,402

-

544,093
960,000

-

-

544,093
960,000

544,093
960,000

-

1,504,093

-

-

1,504,093

1,504,093

3-12
months
$

-

-

1-2
years
$

-

2-5
years
$

-

More
than
5 years
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

261,398

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
None of the Commission’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements
in interest rates, hence movements in interest rates have no bottom line impact on the Commission’s surplus or equity.
Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value,
are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Note 31. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$
0 -  10,000
10,001 - 20,000
50,001 - 60,000
60,001 - 70,000

Base remuneration and superannuation
Annual leave and long service leave accruals
Other benefits
The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority

2013
10
1
1
-

2012
7
1
-

$
115,279
115,279

$
38,667
38,667

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the
accountable authority.

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total
fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following
bands are:
$
60,001 - 70,000
80,001 - 90,000
100,001 - 110,000
180,001 - 190,000

Base remuneration and superannuation
Annual leave and long service leave accruals
Other benefits
The total remuneration of senior officers

2013
1
1

2012
1
1
-

$
204,164
4,543
43,643
252,350

$
158,286
18,902
21,067
198,255

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers
other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority.

Note 32. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators
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2013
$

2012
$

24,500

23,800

24,500

23,800

21,591
238
14,141

Grants and subsidies

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses

(165,774)

(236,006)

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

461,267

1,500,831

1,014,646

2,185

484,000

1,039,564

207,446
207,446

1,247,010

238
13,139

265,222

64,515

26,446

279,228

598,222

2013
$

(865,819)

592,580

31,012

3,235

558,333

1,458,399

255,341
255,341

1,713,740

1,572
12,819

838,432

80,980

16,570

431,084

332,283

2012
$

Investment facilitation

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

792,970

692,188

Total income from State Government

231,402

3,235

558,333

958,744

3,789
3,789

206,003

2,185

484,000

928,194

16,321
16,321

962,533

1,572
12,910

196,966

80,969

16,570

235,398

418,148

2012
$

Royalties for Regions Fund

Resources received free of charge

Service appropriation

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

NET COST OF SERVICES

Other revenue
Total income other than income from State Government

Income

944,515

64,515

Accommodation expenses

Total Cost of Services

26,446

326,090

Supplies and services

Depreciation and amortisation expense

491,494

Employee benefits expense

Expenses

COST OF SERVICES

2013
$

Information and advice

Note 33. Schedule of income and expenses by service

242,683

1,695,457

1,209,271

2,186

484,000

1,452,774

-

1,452,774

237
13,158

889,896

64,515

26,446

67,203

391,319

(991,929)

1,995,148

1,433,580

3,234

558,334

2,987,077

48,838
48,838

3,035,915

1,573
12,802

2,450,580

80,969

16,570

117,975

355,446

Infrastructure and
services development
in the Mid West
2013
2012
$
$

467,944

3,888,476

2,429,920

6,556

1,452,000

3,420,532

223,767
223,767

3,644,299

713
40,438

1,176,709

193,545

79,338

672,521

1,481,035

2013
$

2012
$

(2,023,522)

3,380,698

1,695,994

9,704

1,675,000

5,404,220

307,968
307,968

5,712,188

4,717
38,531

3,485,978

242,918

49,710

784,457

1,105,877

Total

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Additional Key Performance Indicator Information
Certification of Key Performance Indicators
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate to for assisting users to assess the Mid West Development Commission’s
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Mid West Development Commission for
the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE					G. TREASURE
CHAIRMAN		
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
4 September 2013						4 September 2013
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Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires the disclosure of performance information in the Commission’s
annual report. This information assists interested parties such as Government, Parliament, the
community and client groups to assess agency performance in achieving government desired
outcomes and obtaining value for public funds from services delivered.
Broad, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired
outcomes.  The Commission delivers services to achieve its desired outcome, which ultimately
contributes to meeting higher level government goals.  The following table illustrates the
relationship between the Commission’s services and desired outcome with the most appropriate
government goal.
Government Goal

Desired Outcome

Stronger Focus on the Regions:

An environment conducive to the
balanced economic and social
development of the Mid West region.

Greater focus on service delivery,
infrastructure investment and
economic development to improve
the overall quality of life in remote
and regional areas.

Services
1. Information and Advice
2. Investment Facilitation
3. Infrastructure and
Services Development in
the Mid West
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1. Effectiveness Indicators
The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are measured through an annual client perceptions
survey, conducted by an independent market research company.  This information is used to
assess the effectiveness of the Commission’s contact with businesses and the benefits derived
by clients.
Surveys were sent to 240 randomly selected clients that had contact with the Commission
in the previous 12 months.  One hundred and sixty seven (167) completed surveys were
received, achieving a response rate of 70%.  Based on population homogeneity calculations,
the survey results demonstrate an overall sampling error within +/- 5% at the 95% confidence
level for the overall results for clients of the Commission.
One highlight from the customer perceptions survey was that 92% of clients agreed that the
Commission makes a positive contribution towards economic development in the Mid West.  
This rating has been steady over the past five reporting periods.
The Commission works to develop and support an environment conducive to the balanced
economic and social development of the Mid West Region.  The Commission’s success at this
may positively impact on clients in a number of ways including helping to reduce obstacles to
growth, develop new business opportunities, increase trade activity and retain staff / expand
employment opportunities.
Accordingly clients were asked a number of questions relating to business development
facilitated by their contact with the Commission.  Findings are summarised below:
Survey Question

Actual

Actual

Actual

Target

Actual

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2012-13

Reduced obstacles to growth

38%

39%

41%

42%

42%

Developed new business opportunities

69%

67%

68%

63%

63%

More trade activity

34%

37%

36%

30%

34%

Retention of staff / expansion of
employment opportunities

28%

32%

33%

28%

36%

Comments
The Commission’s contribution in two of the four criteria rated marginally higher in 2012-13 than
2011-12, despite the Commission no longer providing TradeStart export services to Mid West
businesses on behalf of Austrade (contract ceased 30 June 2010).  Results in all four criteria
remained equal to or above target for the reporting period.

2. Efficiency indicators
The following efficiency indicators are based on the total cost for each of the Service areas
after excluding Grants and Subsidies expense.  The costs for each Service area comprise
both direct expenditure and an allocation of general costs and overheads.  The total cost of all
Services is reported in the Commission’s Statement of Comprehensive Income as the Total
Cost of Services.
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2.1

Service 1 – Information and Advice

Service Description
To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships
between government, business, and the community, providing a central point of coordination
and contact and by raising awareness of the Mid West region.
Performance Measures

Actual

Actual

Actual

Target

Actual

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2012-13

$819,631

$858,886

$765,568

$772,131

$922,924

5,925

5,434

5,750

4,200

4,521

Cost per client inquiry

$69

$79

$67

$92

$102

Client visits

788

487

570

320

692

$520

$882

$672

$1,206

$667

Total cost of Service (1)

(2)

Client contacts (inquiries)

Cost per client visit
Note:

1.  Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.
2.  50% of the Total cost of Service is allocated to each of Client Visits and Client Contacts when calculating
     the respective unit costs.

Comments
Total costs increased by around 21% from 2011-12 due mainly to a net increase in board
remuneration and expenditure associated with the Country Local Government Fund (CLGF).  
The actual total cost of service in 2012-13 differs to target primarily due to unbudgeted
projects.
Although the 2012-13 number of client inquiries was approximately 8% above target it remains
around 24% below 2009-10 when MWDC completed its TradeStart export services contract
with Austrade.  It should also be noted that RfR contestable funding rounds in prior years have
contributed significantly to the number of client inquiries.  Despite this and the challenging
economic conditions, there has been solid demand for Commission services in a variety of
areas including advancing projects, assistance with securing grant funding, promotion and
advocacy and industry development projects.
Assisting this demand was the State Government’s continued support for projects such as the
Australian and International Square Kilometre Arrays and the proposed development of the
Oakajee deepwater port and industrial estate.  This combined with the Commission’s ongoing
involvement with various RfR funding programs including the MWIP, SuperTowns and CLGF
has contributed to the number of client contacts being above target.
Client visits in 2012-13 were below 2009-10, correlating with the cessation of the TradeStart
export advisory service that the Commission performed for Austrade until that time.  The
Commission in September 2012 ceased being a certifying body for skilled migration with
the Department of Training and Workforce Development assuming this role, this will be a
contributing factor when comparing prior years to 2012-13.  The total number of client visits
in 2012-13 was still more than 100% above target, reflecting the Commission’s high level of
engagement with clients throughout the region particularly in relation to the MWIP.
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2.2

Service 2 – Investment Facilitation

Service Description
To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base
and is attractive to investors.
Performance Measures

Total cost of Service (1)
Projects relating to investment
facilitation undertaken
Average cost per project

Actual

Actual

Actual

Target

Actual

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2012-13

$686,374

$708,089

$875,309

$583,375

$981,788

16

16

16

15

16

$42,898

$44,256

$56,472

$38,892

$63,341

Note:
1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments
Total costs for 2012-13 were significantly above target which is mainly due to costs resulting
from the unbudgeted transfer to MWDC of responsibility for the implementation of the MWIP.  
The higher total cost of service results in an increase in the average cost per project.

2.3

Service 3 – Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

Service Description
To assist the development of infrastructure and services and long term economic development
strategies for the Mid West region.
Performance Measures

Total cost of Service (1)
Projects undertaken relating
to Infrastructure and Services
development in the Mid West
Average cost per project

Actual

Actual

Actual

Target

Actual

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2012-13

$609,345

$600,562

$585,334 $1,086,503

$562,879

18

20

17

15

16

$33,853

$30,798

$34,431

$72,434

$35,180

Note:
1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments
Total cost of service for 2012-13 was below target due to the deferral in budgeted BCM
expenditure.  Average cost per project fluctuates with the number and size of projects being
undertaken as well as the timing of their expenditure.  The average project cost remains
relatively unchanged from 2011-12.
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Auditor General’s Opinion

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Mid West Development
Commission.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Commission’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Commission is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commission determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commission, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Mid West Development Commission at
30 June 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission during the
year ended 30 June 2013.
Controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission are those policies and
procedures established by the Commission to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities
have been in accordance with legislative provisions.
Commission’s Responsibility for Controls
The Commission is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission based on my audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of
controls to ensure that the Commission complies with the legislative provisions. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the
design and implementation of relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Mid West Development Commission are
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Mid West Development Commission for
the year ended 30 June 2013.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.
Commission’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Commission is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Commission determines necessary to
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing and Assurance Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of
outcome achievement and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Mid West Development Commission are
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission’s performance and fairly
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.
Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical
requirements.
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the
Mid West Development Commission for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the
Commission’s website. The Commission’s management is responsible for the integrity of the
Commission’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the
Commission’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to
refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to
confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key
performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL ASSURANCE SERVICES
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
9 September 2013
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Ministerial Directives
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

Other Financial Disclosures
Pricing policies of services provided
The Commission does not issue any fees or charges and this reporting requirement, therefore,
does not apply.

Capital Works
Capital projects incomplete
The Commission did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2012-13.

Capital projects complete
The Commission did not complete any capital works projects during 2012-13.

Employment and Industrial Relations
In 2012-13, the Mid West Development Commission operated with up to 15 staff all of whom were
located at the Commission’s Geraldton office.
Staff Profile
Organisation

2012-13

2011-12

Full-time permanent

8.7

8.0

Full-time contract

1.8

3.3

Part-time measured on an FTE basis

0.2

0.8

On secondment

1.0

1.0

11.7

13.1

Staff Development
The Commission has a commitment to the development of its employees.  Our strategy is to build
a highly skilled and professional workforce and as a result we are building a strong and capable
team with the ability to adapt to the growth and diversity being experienced in the Mid West.
Various industry specific training and professional development was undertaken as opportunity arose.

Workers Compensation
No workers compensation claims have been made within the Commission during 2012-13.
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Governance Disclosures

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers,
or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial
interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission and senior officers.

Other Legal Requirements
Advertising
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred the following
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.
1. Total expenditure for 2012-13 was $17,718.
2. Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:
Class of expenditure
Advertising agencies

Organisation
$9,796

Total expenditure
2012-13 (inc GST)

Market Creations

$2,928 (1)

Adcorp Australia Limited

$9,713 (2)

West Australian Newspapers Ltd
Market research agencies

$4,741

Polling organisations

Nil

Direct mailing organisations

Nil

$336

Asset Research

$4,741

1. Includes $1,265 for Web Hosting and other internet services; and $1,663 for the 2013 Mid West Chamber of
Commerce and Industry Directory.
2. Includes recruitment advertising for Principal Project Manager, Project Officer, Finance & Administration
Officer positions and Board Membership Nominations.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
In 2007 the Commission, in consultation with the Disability Services Commission and the public,
developed and submitted a Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in compliance with the
2004 amendment to the Disability Services Act 1993.
The DAIP was successfully implemented during 2007-08, and the following principles have been
followed during 2012-13 to continue to address the six desired DAIP outcomes:
1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services
of, and any events organised by the Commission.
(i) Assessment of all Commission events as to their accessibility by all people.
2. People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to access the
buildings and other facilities of the Commission.
(i) Increased staff awareness of issues of accessibility (see outcome 4).
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3. People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that will enable
them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
(i) Provision of all communications in clear and concise language, avoiding jargon.
4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the
Commission as other people receive from the Commission.
(i) Commenced an annual disability awareness training program for all Commission staff,
including updating the new staff induction process to address the Commission’s DAIP.
5. People with disabilities have the same opportunities to make complaints to the Commission.
(i) Alternative formats provided wherever the Commission’s grievance procedures are
displayed.
6. People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to participate in
any public consultation by the Commission.
(i) All venues assessed for accessibility when arranging public consultation events.
(ii) Consideration to be made whether any target groups would benefit from public
consultation to encourage participation.
(iii) Ongoing assessment of accessibility of venues when arranging
public consultation events.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1):
1. In the administration of the Mid West Development Commission, I have complied with
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.
2. I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and also conducted
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.
3. The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for
the reporting period are:
Number lodged:

Nil

Number of breaches found, including details
of multiple breaches per application:

Nil

Number still under review:

Nil

Gavin Tresure
Chief Executive Officer
4 September 2013
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Records Keeping Plans
As required by the State Records Act (2000), the Commission has an approved Records Keeping
Plan (RKP).
Periodical record keeping training programs through the Commission’s formal monthly staff
meetings, as well as an induction program for new employees address the roles of staff and their
responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the Commission’s RKP.
The Records Team within the Commission review the efficiency and effectiveness of its record
keeping training program regularly, to ensure that key record systems objectives and record
keeping practices are being met.  A Commission Record Keeping Manual is in place to assist the
Records Team to formalise and structure the training program for staff.

Government Policy Requirements
Substantive Equality
As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, this reporting requirement only applies to participating
agencies.  The Commission is not a participant and this requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The Commission strives to ensure a safe working environment.  Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
issues (risks and hazards) can be reported at any time to the Corporate Services Manager and are
addressed as they are identified.  OSH policies continue to be reviewed and monitored as required
by the changing needs of the Commission and its working environment.
Staff are made aware of OSH policies and procedures at induction and there are continuing
awareness sessions during monthly meetings as necessary.
The Mid West Development Commission is compliant with the injury management requirements
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
The Commission’s annual performance report for 2012-13 against the following indicators:
Indicator

Target 2012-13

Actual 2012-13

Number of fatalities

Zero (0)

Zero (0)

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate

Zero (0)

Zero (0)

Lost time injury severity rate

Zero (0)

Zero (0)

0%
0%

0%
0%

≥80%

0%

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks
Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety,
health and injury management responsibilities
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Mid West Development Commission
Level 2, Foreshore Business Centre
209 Foreshore Drive
PO Box 238  │ Geraldton  WA  6531
Phone: 08 9921 0702  │ Fax: 08 9921 0707
Email: info@mwdc.wa.gov.au
Web: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au

Correspondence should be directed to:
Chief Executive Officer
Mid West Development Commission
PO Box 238
GERALDTON WA 6531
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